

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Journal of Cystic Fibrosis

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/jcf



Review

Environmental risks of Pseudomonas aeruginosa–What to advise patients and parents



Balfour-Lynn IM

Department of Paediatric Respiratory Medicine, Royal Brompton Hospital, Sydney Street, London, SW3 6NP, UK

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 26 June 2020 Revised 3 December 2020 Accepted 3 December 2020 Available online 13 December 2020

Keywords: Pseudomonas Infection Environment Water Soil

ABSTRACT

Pseudomonas aeruginosa (PsA) is commonly found in soil and water so is impossible to avoid completely. Parents/carers of children with cystic fibrosis (CF) are concerned about them acquiring PsA from the environment, and different families view risk differently. Our ethos is to enable children with CF to take part as much as possible in educational and fun home activities, in order to maintain their quality of life (and their family's), and not have them feel different from other children. This review presents advice for families as to what they must definitely avoid, what they must take precautions with but can allow, and what they must not avoid. It is mostly evidence-based, but where evidence is lacking it a consensus view from the Paediatric CF Unit at the Royal Brompton Hospital.

© 2020 European Cystic Fibrosis Society. Published by Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

Contents

1.	Introd	fuction	18
2.	Principles of risk		
3.	Sourc	es of PsA in the environment	18
4.	Thing	s to definitely avoid (Table 1)	19
	4.1.	Compost and manure	19
	4.2.	Cleaning stables and other animal enclosures	19
	4.3.	Hot tubs, whirlpools, spa pools, Jacuzzis, hydrotherapy pools	19
	4.4.	Tropical greenhouses, butterfly houses	19
	4.5.	Outdoor misting systems	19
	4.6.	Squirting bath toys	
	4.7.	Swimming in stagnant ponds & canals	19
		Fish tanks (especially with warm water for tropical fish)	
5.		gs to take precautions with but allow (Table 2)	
	5.1.	Digging in the garden soil, playing in the park, playing outdoor sport	19
	5.2.	Muddy puddles	20
	5.3.	Mud kitchens	20
	5.4.	Wet clay	20
	5.5.	Swimming	
	5.6.	Inflatable paddling pools	
	5.7.	Water pistols and 'super-soakers'	
	5.8.	Water amusement parks	
	5.9.	Play fountains / splash pads / spray pools / garden water sprinklers	
	5.10.	Sandpits and sandy beaches	
	5.11.	Touch pools in a public aquarium	21

Abbreviations: PsA, Pseudomonas aeruginosa. E-mail address: i.balfourlynn@ic.ac.uk

	5.12.	Petting zoos and farm visits	21		
	5.13.	Caves	21		
	5.14.	Snow	22		
	5.15.	Showers	22		
	5.16.	Sink and bath taps	22		
	5.17.	Flushing toilets	22		
		Flower vases			
	5.19.	Humidifiers & vaporisers	22		
	5.20.	Air conditioning	22		
6.		that must not be avoided			
	6.1.	Go to the dentist and brush teeth	22		
		Drink water			
7.	Conclu	sions	23		
Funding					
Declaration of Competing Interest					
Acknowledgments					
Ref	deferences 2				

1. Introduction

Given the adverse effect on the lungs and overall prognosis, many parents of children with cystic fibrosis (CF) are concerned about their child acquiring Pseudomonas aeruginosa (PsA) from the environment [1]. The term parents in this article includes parents and all types of carers. Our CF team is frequently asked questions, especially when parents are considering which nursery or school is most appropriate for their child, so in order to ensure a consistent message, we included a section in our guidelines (www.rbht.nhs.uk/childrencf). It is a consensus view, based on a comprehensive literature search. For some environments, there is strong evidence and we can be firm in our views. However, for many situations, the evidence is lacking or inconsistent. In those instances, parents will need to decide for themselves what to allow. The guide is also relevant to adults with CF, although some of the issues will only apply to those with children themselves. This review will not focus on the hospital environment and nosocomial infection, nor medical equipment used in the home.

2. Principles of risk

Assessing risk is a personal issue and families view things differently. Parents' views may also change with time, dependent on their child's age and clinical status. In their guide for parents of pre-school to primary school children, the UK CF Trust states 'It's important to remember that life can be risky - we all have to weigh up risk against quality of life' [2]. We agree and would like children to lead as normal a life as possible, and not miss out on fun activities at home or school. Healthcare teams often view issues of risk differently to families and there are a variety of opinions expressed by CF teams on what precautions to take [3]. Lack of clear advice about acquisition makes some parents restrict their child's activities [4]. Some parents may overdo daily precautions to the detriment of the child's and their own quality of life, particularly as a number have major misunderstandings over how to avoid PsA [1,5]. Many parents report the considerable emotional impact of PsA - particularly fear [4], and some report feeling guilty when their child acquired PsA [1]. A survey answered by 73 parents in our unit found 19% worried 'nearly every day' about their child getting PsA, and 81% of parents imposed restrictions at home

3. Sources of PsA in the environment

Although cross-infection of transmissible and epidemic PsA strains is known to occur, it is likely that much PsA acquired is

from the natural environment and not hospitals or other people with CF, given that many patients are infected with distinct strains [7]. It is impossible to avoid contact with PsA, it is often said that it is ubiquitous in soil and water. However, Crone et al., sampled environmental soil, water and faeces from multiple sites in 3 countries (Colombia, USA and Denmark); using culture plates and PCR, they found PsA in 83% of oil or pesticide-contaminated samples vs just 12% uncontaminated [8]. In the uncontaminated samples, PsA was detected in only 7% soil/rhizosphere samples, compared to 32% animal faeces/compost samples and 40% of a small sample of mushrooms [8]. They also did a meta-analysis and assessed 62 papers involving 94 studies with over 22,000 samples [8]. The main findings were that pooling the samples gave an overall PsA environmental detection rate of 25%, which broke down into 43% where there was intense human activity, defined as regular daily human contact, compared with 19% where it was non-intense. Water sources had high levels of PsA detection, particularly waste water (92%), and urban rivers (68%). Contaminated soil (oil and hydrocarbons) had high levels (81%) of PsA whereas it was only 18% in non-contaminated soil. It seems that PsA is closely associated with human activity, and is not commonly found in unpolluted soil and water; animal and human faeces are the main natural sources. A case control study showed that adults without PsA infection lived significantly further away than those with chronic PsA infection (walking distance and 'as the crow flies' direct distance) from blues spaces, i.e., open water spaces including rivers, lakes, ponds and streams [9].

The risk of PsA acquisition is greater if the bacteria are inhaled directly into the lungs, and this can happen when water is aerosolised. An aerosol is a suspension of liquid (or solid) particles within a gas i.e., the air; liquid particles are in the form of droplets or droplet nuclei (in the latter, most of the water has evaporated) [10]. Thus airborne transmission may be feasible when droplet nuclei or small particles in the respirable range containing PsA are inhaled. This is relevant when considering risk from contaminated water as it will depend on the physical form of the water. There is an additional risk that if a child has PsA on their hands, and puts their fingers in their nose or mouth, it can be inhaled, hence the importance of hand washing after certain activities. There is a dose effect, so the longer the exposure or the higher the bacterial content, the more likely the bacteria will be acquired and contaminate the lungs. Nevertheless, the quantity of bacteria required to cause infection in a person with CF is unknown (although has been studied in mice and human volunteers [11]). It is difficult to know whether drinking PsA in contaminated water affects the lungs as PsA can be commonly found in stool samples of healthy people,

Table 1 Things to definitely avoid.

Soil-based
Compost & manure
Cleaning stables and other animal enclosures
Water-based
Hot tubs, whirlpools, spa pools, Jacuzzis, hydrotherapy pools
Tropical greenhouses, butterfly houses
Outdoor misting systems
Squirting bath toys
Swimming in stagnant ponds & canals
Fish tanks

ranging from 1-24% [12-14], and up to 56% of babies in the first 10 days of life in a hospital nursery has PsA in their stools [15].

4. Things to definitely avoid (Table 1)

Soil based

4.1. Compost and manure

Compost heaps and purchased bags of compost are essentially decayed vegetation, and are like enriched soil, but can contain multiple fungi, including *Aspergillus* spores [16], and also bacteria such as *Pseudomonas* species [8]. Manure should definitely be avoided as animal faeces is an important source of PsA [8]. We would recommend compost and manure are not used in gardens of people with CF, especially if the children want to help with gardening.

4.2. Cleaning stables and other animal enclosures

Exposure to mouldy straw inside stables is particularly bad for potential contamination with *Aspergillus*. However a warm mucky stable is also likely to be a source of PsA, and horses can be infected with PsA [17]. The US 2013 'Infection, Prevention and Control Guideline for CF' recommends that people with CF avoid cleaning stalls (as well as pens and coops that contain other animals) [7], so this recommendation applies to many animal enclosures including small cages.

Water -based

4.3. Hot tubs, whirlpools, spa pools, Jacuzzis, hydrotherapy pools

There is strong evidence of the presence of PsA in warm water that is aerosolised and easily inhaled with the person's head just above the water; and reported cases of acquired infection in children [18] and adults with CF [19], as well as a previously healthy adult [20]. PsA has been isolated from culture plates held 15 cms (6 inches) above the water surface when the tub was turned on [20], and also direct water samples and swabs from sides, gutter, drains etc. [21,22]. A 2002 Northern Ireland study found PsA in 4/13 (31%) hydrotherapy pools and 37/51 (73%) Jacuzzis [23]; a further N. Ireland study in 2018 found PsA in 21% of 243 hot tubs and 7% of 5811 Jacuzzis [21]. There is guidance to reduce survival and growth of PsA in these environments (e.g. levels of free chlorine and bromine, pH of water), but the complex piping systems are difficult to clean, and high water temperature with water agitation make chlorine-based disinfectants less effective [22]. Furthermore, in 2013, over 20,000 public hot tubs/spas were inspected by 16 public health agencies in 5 states in the USA, and 19% violated recommended disinfectant concentrations [24]. When concentrations are inadequate, PsA biofilms build up that then protects the organism once adequate disinfectant concentrations are regained [24]. Mycobacterium avium complex have also been isolated from spas and hot tubs, particularly when poorly maintained with inadequate disinfection, and have been associated genotypically and epidemiologically with lung infections in immunocompetent adults [25]. We recommend total avoidance and there is strong evidence for this.

4.4. Tropical greenhouses, butterfly houses

A study in 20 greenhouse watering systems in Germany found PsA (and other strains of *Pseudomonas*) in 70% systems, when sampling from central taps and at the outlets of spray nozzles [26]. These misting systems to water plants in tropical greenhouses, and presumably also butterfly houses, are a risk as the fine aerosols are easily inhaled.

4.5. Outdoor misting systems

Some restaurants or other public areas have an outdoor misting system that sends a spray of mist downwards to keep people cool. This is also found inside some restaurants with tropical jungle themes. There is nothing published on this regarding PsA (a few mentions re potential *Legionella*), although there is a theoretical risk that the mist may contain PsA from the local water supply, so we would recommend avoidance as again inhaling the aerosol is a risk.

4.6. Squirting bath toys

Bath toys that have a valve on the base (e.g. plastic ducks) or that can squirt out water can be a problem if the water sits inside the toy for a long time, as they cannot be fully emptied and dried. There is evidence of a multidrug-resistant PsA outbreak on a children's cancer ward that originated in the toy box containing water-retaining bath toys and a nail brush [27].

4.7. Swimming in stagnant ponds & canals

Small natural stagnant ponds contain rotting vegetation, and are in contact at the bottom with earth; there is also faecal pollution from wildlife, so going in them must be avoided. Canals also usually contain stagnant water that usually looks dirty. We would definitely recommend avoiding this.

4.8. Fish tanks (especially with warm water for tropical fish)

Multiple species of bacteria, including PsA, have been isolated from fish tanks and diseased ornamental fish [28,29]. Furthermore, PsA was isolated from over half of 92 aquarium plants bought in 33 retail outlets in British Columbia; and they also isolated PsA from 29% of the samples of water that purchased goldfish came in, and 17% of the tropical fish water [30]. There is a case report of an 11-month old infant with CF who isolated PsA and *Aeromonas* spp. repeatedly until the four fish tanks with murky water were removed from the home [31]. The oxygen pumps will lead to bubbles and aerosolization of water, and tropical fish are kept in warm water ideal for PsA. We believe they should be avoided but not all will agree. The US Guideline simply suggests that gloves should be worn when cleaning out a fish tank [7].

5. Things to take precautions with but allow (Table 2)

Soil based

5.1. Digging in the garden soil, playing in the park, playing outdoor sport

As discussed above (Section 3), PsA is known to reside in soil, particularly when contaminated. Nevertheless, in the meta-analysis

Table 2Things to take precautions with but allow.

Soil-based

Digging in the garden soil, playing in the park, playing outdoor sports

Muddy puddles

Mud kitchens

Clay

Water-based

Swimming - sea, freshwater lakes, rivers, swimming ponds, swimming pools

Inflatable paddling pools

Water pistols and 'super-soakers'

Water amusement parks

Play fountains / splash pads / spray pool / garden water sprinklers

Sandpits and sandy beaches

Touch pools in a public aquarium

Petting zoos and farm visits

Caves

Snow

Showers, sinks & bath taps

Flushing toilets

Flower vases

Humidifiers & vaporisers

Air conditioning

of 94 studies, it was still present in 18% of non-contaminated samples, that you would expect to find in private gardens [8]. Soil that is contaminated by organic fertiliser or animal manure must be avoided. Any PsA present in someone's garden is only a potential source of infection if the child gets the soil on their noses or in their mouths. PsA will not normally be aerosolised from soil. We therefore suggest playing in the garden or park should not be stopped, as long as the children's hands and face are cleaned properly afterwards. Carrying hand sanitisers is helpful when outdoors.

The same applies to older children playing outdoor team sport on grass pitches which we encourage as exercise is so beneficial. We believe running through piles of damp leaves would also seem to be safe (although it is better not to play in them); the UK CF Trust advises against 'extensive contact' with rotting leaves [2]. The US guidelines suggest that people with CF should limit prolonged exposures to activity that generates dust from the soil or organic matter *e.g.* lawn mowing to decrease exposure to *Aspergillus* and *B cepacia* complex. There is the additional hazard from *Aspergillus* and other fungi in bags of potting soil and on the top of soil in potted plants [16]. If a child wants to garden they can always wear gardening gloves.

5.2. Muddy puddles

Mud is a mixture of compressed soil and water; a puddle that has dirty stagnant water in it may contain many bacteria. A study in Northern Ireland sampled 18 freshly formed puddles in two city hospitals, and 8 puddles from two countryside locations [32]. A large number of bacteria were isolated, more often from the hospital locations. The commonest type were gram-negative organisms, and particularly E.coli. PsA was isolated only from one hospital puddle (and was a type not found in any CF patient in N. Ireland); there were three other strains of Pseudomonas (oleovorans, putida and fluorescens) found in the countryside and hospital. However, if a child steps in it or even splashes in it, the water is unlikely to be aerosolised sufficiently to be inhaled in significant quantities, so we believe this is not a significant risk and need not be avoided. There are some though who would recommend staying out of puddles that have settled on top of mud. Pavement puddles generally dry quickly so the water does not stagnate and is also not in contact with soil/mud, so is safe to splash through.

5.3. Mud kitchens

These are toy kitchen units made of wood, plastic and metal (often found in UK nursery schools), where mud is used as the ingredient for all the food being made, so gets all over the children's hands and probably faces. The same applies as digging in the garden, any PsA in the mud will not be aerosolised, so as long as the children's hands and face are cleaned properly afterwards, we believe the risk is minimal. There is no published evidence to further guide us, although the UK CF Trust advises against 'extensive contact' with mud [2].

5.4. Wet clay

Clay is fine-grained natural soil material. Modelling clay usually comes in a bag and is wet, often with loose water at the bottom of the bag. The clay should be allowed to dry out first although needs to be moistened again for it to be usable.

Water-based

5.5. Swimming

It is important children learn to swim for safety reasons. The water will not usually be aerosolised (apart from near waterfalls), although there will be droplets from splashing about; so it is unlikely to be an issue as long as it is not inhaled. Washing afterwards is obviously a good idea. PsA grows in water at temperatures ranging from 5 to 42°C., but optimally at 37°C., hence the water temperature is an important factor in the risk of acquiring infection [33]. It is known that PsA acquisition is higher in the summer and autumn than winter, whereas this does not apply to *Staphylococcus aureus* acquisition [34].

- Sea PsA has been grown out in the open ocean (away from human activity) [35]. However, sea water by a beach is most likely contaminated from humans. The saline concentration of the seawater will inhibit growth of many organisms. It is worth checking the cleanliness of beaches, and for example, this can be done online for UK beaches (https://www.gov.uk/quality-of-local-bathing-water). We suggest swimming in the sea is safe.
- Freshwater lakes can also be contaminated in a similar way to the sea and in a hot summer in Holland, there was an outbreak of otitis externa and PsA was isolated from five lakes (that did comply with European Commission standards for faecal pollution) and the ear swabs of 78 cases, so a strong association was clear; there was no mention of airway infections though [36]. Overall though, it is likely to be safe to swim in a large lake.
- Rivers –PsA has been isolated in rivers, particularly in cities, and is more likely after heavy rain has led to sewage overflow [8]. We would advise caution in an urban river, but would not discourage swimming in an open countryside river (as long as it is deemed safe for bathers)
- **Swimming ponds** –large swimming ponds and 'natural' swimming pools are not chlorinated nor sterilised, but rely on biological filters and plants, although in some the bottom surface is lined [37]. Water safety standards for natural ponds are being legislated for in Europe as they are not included in swimming pool standards [33]. Nevertheless, PsA has been isolated in low levels in 11/13 Dutch swimming ponds [33], as well as in 4/4 ponds in Spain [37]. It may be safe in a large pond that looks clean with clear water, but if the water is turbid it implies increased bacterial contamination, increased growth of algae, runoff from surrounding surfaces, and airborne dirt, and it should be avoided [33]. PsA is also more likely to be found in ponds during prolonged periods of hot weather [33].

Pond-dipping is collecting pond life in a jar attached to a net that is dragged through the water, and is an activity many schools engage in. It is likely that the pond water (that may be stagnant) will get on the children's hands and of course may end up being flicked around when an adult is not looking, especially when there are a lot of children involved. It is likely to be safe as long as it is supervised properly, and the child cleans their hands properly afterwards. There is no evidence to guide us, and it is difficult to know what is best, so parents will have to decide whether they believe it to be a sufficient risk to stop the child joining in.

• Swimming pools - as long as the pool is disinfected (usually with chlorine or bromine) to recommended levels then this should not be a problem, and public pools are under clear legislation. The US guideline recommends that people with CF can swim in pools with adequate disinfection [7]. Having said that, in 2013, over 43,000 public pools were inspected by 16 public health agencies in 5 states in the USA, and almost 4000 (9%) violated recommended disinfectant concentrations [24]. PsA has been isolated from both indoor and outdoor public pools in multiple studies [21-23,38], although in a Swiss study of about 100 pools, they only identified PsA in the paddling and hydrotherapy pools but not the actual swimming pools [39]. Caution is needed with some hotels and renting holiday villas with private pools in case the pool is not treated properly. Biofilms harbouring PsA have been shown to accumulate in the filters, pool carpets and shower floors of swimming pools [40]; and also vinyl-canvas and foam teaching aids and toys, particularly if stored wet [41]. It is safest for people with CF to only use pools that are well maintained and have an associated quality assurance monitoring programme to eliminate PsA [21].

5.6. Inflatable paddling pools

These will be fine as long as they are emptied after each use & dried out, then filled up again with fresh water when they are to be reused. The CDC recommend leaving the pool out in the sun for four hours once it is emptied and completely dry [42]. In general, water play should be safe as long as the water is fresh and has not sat stagnating in containers; toys should be dried out at the end.

5.7. Water pistols and 'super-soakers'

Similarly, to squirting bath toys, this could be a problem if the water is kept inside the toys for a long time. A forceful supersoaker could aerosolise the water and can be squirted in the face. However, we suggest as long as they are emptied fully after use and dried out they can still be played with. Cleaning may also help, although less so once PsA biofilms have formed [41]; soaking in disinfectant such as dilute bleach is an option but the toys must be rinsed thoroughly afterwards so the child does not get chemicals in their eyes if squirted in the face.

5.8. Water amusement parks

The water will be aerosolised so on some rides, spray can be inhaled. However as long as the facility uses disinfected (usually chlorinated) water to industry standards this should be safe and can be checked in advance. The US guideline recommends that people with CF can swim in water parks with adequate disinfection [7].

5.9. Play fountains / splash pads / spray pools / garden water sprinklers

The water spouts up from pavement jets or a recreation area, and there is minimal standing water. Some of the water is likely to be aerosolised so does present a risk. It is said that typically the water is treated (usually chlorinated) to similar standards as a swimming pool, in which case they should be safe. However, the water is recycled and will wash contaminants off people that will then be resprayed [43]. As part of an Australian study of first acquisition of PsA and geographical locations, an association was found between acquisition of PsA and households that used water sprinkler systems in the garden, the significance of this is unclear [44].

5.10. Sandpits and sandy beaches

In a sandpit with clean dry sand the risk is low, although the sand is often damp; nevertheless, we believe the risk is only significant in a sandpit with free standing stagnant water. So, we suggest sandpits are fine as long as there is no visible standing water; this will be easier to control in a private garden. It is worth keeping a lid on the sandpit to reduce the amount of rainwater that might collect. Also, when filling up the sandpit from large bags, the sand is usually wet in the bag and should be left to dry out before use. The CF Trust advises schools that fresh dry sand should be used but do not say how often it should be changed [2]. A sandpit in a park is less likely to be clean, but by far the most frequent contaminant is *Toxocara* from cat and dog faeces.

Sand on beaches can be contaminated with PsA (and *Staphylococcus aureus*), presumably due to human contamination, land runoff, and sewage in the sea [45,46]. Indeed, sand has the ability to filter bacteria out of the seawater and sustain its growth whereas most organisms rapidly die in seawater due to the high salt concentration [45]. PsA is therefore more often found in dry than wet sand on beaches, although it is the converse if it has rained in the previous 24 hours [46].

5.11. Touch pools in a public aquarium

It is most likely that there will be bacteria in the water, including Non-tuberculous *Mycobacteria*. However, the water will not be aerosolised, and there are usually good hand-washing facilities in place, so we believe the children can take part as long as they definitely clean their hands well and are supervised carefully.

5.12. Petting zoos and farm visits

Clearly stagnant water or small ponds should be avoided. Caution also in chicken coops, stables and contact with mouldy hay for *Aspergillus*. Hand hygiene is important after stroking the animals and most places will have hand washing facilities for all the children. There have been no reports of transmission of pathogens from farm animals or pet therapy animals to people with CF, although animals are a potential source of several types of infection (*e.g.* PsA from horses, MRSA from pigs).

5.13. Caves

These are often damp environments with water dripping down the sides of the walls. The water is not aerosolised, and the child will not be in direct contact with the water. Whilst multi-resistant PsA has been isolated from water in a remote cave in Guayana [47], on balance, we believe a visit to a cave need not be avoided.

5.14. Snow

A 2018 study analysed fallen snow from 37 sites in parks, gardens, public open spaces and footpaths [48]. Although a number of bacterial species were detected in the majority of samples, PsA was not detected in any. Caution should be taken in dirty slushy melted snow especially lying over mud, but there should be no harm in playing in freshly fallen white snow.

5.15. Showers

The shower heads can be a source of PsA with colonised biofilms, and the shower spray contains aerosolised droplets that can be inhaled. It is best to run the shower for 1-2 minutes before the child gets in. Shower heads with smoother surfaces may be less prone to retaining microbes that those with more crevices [7].

5.16. Sink and bath taps

PsA is definitely found in people's homes. A study that took over 11,000 samples during multiple visits to homes of 7 people with CF and 8 without, found just 6% of samples from drains yielded PsA, far more than from other sample sites in the home, with no difference if there was someone with CF living in the home [49]. On the other hand, a larger study from the homes of 102 people with CF in Germany, found PsA in 72% of the homes; it was in 40% shower drains, 35% kitchen sink drains, 35% of bathroom sink drains, and 27% toilet drains [50]. Interestingly the intensity of cleaning measures undertaken had no influence on PsA detection rate. Taps can contain PsA (in the form of biofilms) but the risk to the patient is reduced compared to showers as the water spray is not being inhaled. If the tap is in frequent usage the risk is also lessened but taps that are rarely used should have the water run through them for 1 minute every day [51]. A study in the homes of 50 CF patients with newly acquired PsA found PsA in just 6% of environmental samples with the majority (72%) from the bathroom [52]. PsA was isolated in the homes of just 18 of the 50 patients, but in 9/18 it was a different strain; when the strain was identical, it is unknown if the patient acquired it from their home or vice versa [52].

PsA has been isolated from the rubber seals of dishwashers in 6/30 (20%) machines tested (and *S.maltophilia* in 10/30) [53], so clearly these must be kept cleaned, and less bacteria are found when they are used at the higher temperature settings.

5.17. Flushing toilets

Toilets in PSA-infected CF households contain PsA twice as often (42%) as non-infected CF households (20%), but 20% is still high [54]. Aerosols containing bacteria can be created when flushing toilets, so the lids should be lowered before flushing [11].

5.18. Flower vases

There is no doubt that several bacteria species, including PsA, can be isolated from the water in flower vases within 3 days; whilst there is no evidence that this has caused hospital acquired infections [55], it is logical that one would not want contaminated water sitting in someone's home. Water should be changed regularly before it smells and leaves should be trimmed off stems so that they do not sit in the water. Dilute disinfectant (e.g. hypochlorite, chlorhexidine) can be added to the water with no harm to the flowers.

5.19. Humidifiers & vaporisers

Water sits in a reservoir which is evaporated and blown into the air. As long as the reservoir is kept clean, and fresh water put into it before use, it should be safe, but it should not be used if the water has been stagnating in the reservoir. Also, disinfectant must never be added to the water – there have been cases of interstitial lung disease developing in ventilated neonates with disinfectant added to the humidifiers.

5.20. Air conditioning

There is no evidence of PsA problems with air conditioning (including in cars) but these should best be avoided if poorly maintained units are dripping water.

6. Things that must not be avoided

6.1. Go to the dentist and brush teeth

A dental chair unit uses water to irrigate and cool dental instruments and the teeth, as well as providing water for rinsing; there are several metres of fine bore tubing to supply the water - the dental unit waterlines (DUWLs) [56,57]. Intermittent use can lead to water stagnation, some have independent reservoirs, and they run off the municipal water supply. The water is aerosolised in the mouth so clearly this is a potential infection risk. There can also be retrograde movement of water and saliva back into the system, especially if there are inefficient or absent anti-retraction valves [58]. PsA has been isolated, sometimes in high proportions, from DUWLs tested in studies from Jordan, Italy, China and Switzerland [56–59]. Flushing the dental water unit for 2 minutes significantly reduced the PsA counts but did not eliminate them [59]. Nevertheless, it is critical that children with CF attend the dentist regularly, especially given the effect of some of the antibiotics and aspects of their diet. Furthermore, rotten teeth can promote PsA in the mouth which can infect the airways. Some parents are concerned about wet toothbrushes, but a study in 102 homes of people with CF found in only 1% was PsA isolated from the brush [50]. Nevertheless, it has been shown that a simple steam cleaner used for baby bottles will eradicate PsA and other organisms, including MRSA, Non-tuberculous mycobacteria, and B cepacia complex from toothbrushes, and it has been recommended that this should be done after each use [60].

6.2. Drink water

PsA has been isolated in tap water, well water, drinking water dispensers (coolers), water from vending machines, bottled water, and even distilled water [11,21]. There is no evidence that drinking water with the low levels of PsA found will cause lung infections, and high levels are required to colonise the gut. Drinking water need not be avoided, nor need the water be boiled first. The US guidelines suggest that tap water or well water that meets local public health standards may be used for drinking, as can bottled and distilled water [7].

Many people use refillable water bottles. Mostly the filters are not antibacterial but are carbon filters to remove chlorine and improve the taste. Certain designs mean that the filters remain wet, possibly even holding water, so these should be avoided. Similar advice is given for water jugs with filters. Bottles with antibacterial filters do exist (for camping etc.) but again it is important to know if the filter remains wet and possibly holds on to the bacteria, in which case they should be avoided. Household water purifiers are also principally used to purify chemicals, and have been found to contain PsA, although in low amounts [61].

7. Conclusions

Clearly PsA is common in the environment and so is a concern to the CF community. Where possible, we have aimed to provide evidence-based data to help inform parents how to minimise risk to their children with CF, at the same time as allowing the children to play and be educated like all other children.

Funding

None.

Declaration of Competing Interest

None.

Acknowledgments

Many thanks to my consultant colleagues for helping produce our consensus guideline for families – Prof Andrew Bush, Dr Mark Rosenthal, Prof Jane Davies, Dr Siobhán Carr and Dr Rishi Pabary. Thanks also to our CF Nurse Specialists, Specialist Physiotherapists, and the whole Multidisciplinary Team who answer all the parents' questions.

References

- Ullrich G, Wiedau-Görs S, Steinkamp G, Bartig HJ, Schulz W, Freihorst J. Parental fears of Pseudomonas infection and measures to prevent its acquisition. J Cyst Fibros 2002;1:122–30. doi:10.1016/s1569-1993(02)00075-9.
- [2] Cystic Fibrosis Trust 2016. School and cystic fibrosis: a guide for parents from pre-school to primary. https://www.cysticfibrosis.org.uk/life-with-cystic-fibrosis/pre-school-and-primary-school. (accessed 1.6.20).
- [3] Steinkamp G, Ullrich G. Different opinions of physicians on the importance of measures to prevent acquisition of Pseudomonas aeruginosa from the environment. J Cyst Fibros 2003;2:199–205. doi:10.1016/S1569-1993(03)00092-4.
- [4] Palser SC, Rayner OC, Leighton PA, Smyth AR. Perception of first respiratory infection with Pseudomonas aeruginosa by people with cystic fibrosis and those close to them: an online qualitative study. BMJ Open 2016;6:e012303 Published 2016 Dec 28. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2016-012303.
- [5] Ullrich G, Wiedau S, Schulz W, Steinkamp G. Parental knowledge and behaviour to prevent environmental P. aeruginosa acquisition in their children with CF. J Cyst Fibros 2008;7:231–7. doi:10.1016/j.jcf.2007.09.003.
- [6] Murray N, Henney K, Irving S, Balfour-Lynn IM. 'Splashing in muddy puddles.' Looking at the impact of Pseudomonas on family life. J Cyst Fibros 2016;15(Suppl 1):S16.
- [7] Saiman L, Siegel JD, LiPuma JJ, Brown RF, Bryson EA, Chambers MJ, et al. Cystic fibrosis foundation; society for healthcare epidemiology of America. Infection prevention and control guideline for cystic fibrosis: 2013 update. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol 2014;35(Suppl 1):S1–S67. doi:10.1086/676882.
- [8] Crone S, Vives-Flórez M, Kvich L, Saunders AM, Malone M, Nicolaisen MH, et al. The environmental occurrence of Pseudomonas aeruginosa. APMIS Mar 2020;128:220–31. doi:10.1111/apm.13010.
- [9] Goeminne PC, Nawrot TS, De Boeck K, Nemery B, Dupont LJ. Proximity to blue spaces and risk of infection with Pseudomonas aeruginosa in cystic fibrosis: a case-control analysis. J Cyst Fibros 2015;14:741–7. doi:10.1016/j.jcf.2015.04.004.
- [10] Clifton IJ, Peckham DG. Defining routes of airborne transmission of Pseudomonas aeruginosa in people with cystic fibrosis. Expert Rev Respir Med 2010;4:519–29. doi:10.1586/ers.10.42.
- [11] Mena KD, Gerba CP. Risk assessment of Pseudomonas aeruginosa in water. Rev Environ Contam Toxicol 2009;201:71–115. doi:10.1007/978-1-4419-0032-6_3.
- [12] Valenza G, Tuschak C, Nickel S, Krupa E, Lehner-Reindl V, Höller C. Prevalence, antimicrobial susceptibility, and genetic diversity of Pseudomonas aeruginosa as intestinal colonizer in the community. Infect Dis (Lond) 2015;47:654–7. doi:10.3109/23744235.2015.1031171.
- [13] Estepa V, Rojo-Bezares B, Torres C, Sáenz Y. Faecal carriage of Pseudomonas aeruginosa in healthy humans: antimicrobial susceptibility and global genetic lineages. FEMS Microbiol Ecol 2014:89:15-9. doi: 10.1111/1574-6941.12301.
- [14] Ruiz-Roldán L, Bellés A, Bueno J, Azcona-Gutiérrez JM, Rojo-Bezares B, Torres C, et al. Pseudomonas aeruginosa Isolates from Spanish children: occurrence in faecal samples, antimicrobial resistance, virulence, and molecular typing. Biomed Res Int 2018 Jun 11:2018:8060178. doi:10.1155/2018/8060178.
- [15] Yoshioka H, Fujita K, Maruyama S. Faecal carriage of Pseudomonas aeruginosa in newborn infants. J Hosp Infect 1983;4:41–4. doi:10.1016/0195-6701(83) 90063-4.
- [16] Haas D, Lesch S, Buzina W, Galler H, Gutschi AM, Habib J, et al. Culturable fungi in potting soils and compost. Med Mycol 2016;54:825–34. doi:10.1093/ mmy/myw047.

- [17] Moore JE, Goldsmith CE, Millar BC, Rooney PJ, Buckley T, Rendall J, et al. Cystic fibrosis and the isolation of Pseudomonas aeruginosa from horses. Vet Rec 2008:163:399–400. doi:10.1136/yr.163.13.399-c.
- [18] Friend PA, Newsom SW. Hygiene for hydrotherapy pools. J Hosp Infect 1986;8:213–16. doi:10.1016/0195-6701(86)90115-5.
- [19] Govan JR, Nelson JW. Microbiology of lung infection in cystic fibrosis. Br Med Bull 1992;48:912–30. doi:10.1093/oxfordjournals.bmb.a072585.
- [20] Rose HD, Franson TR, Sheth NK, Chusid MJ, Macher AM, Zeirdt CH. Pseu-domonas pneumonia associated with use of a home whirlpool spa. JAMA 1983:250:2027–9
- [21] Caskey S, Stirling J, Moore JE, Rendall JC. Occurrence of Pseudomonas aeruginosa in waters: implications for patients with cystic fibrosis (CF). Lett Appl Microbiol 2018:66:537–41. doi:10.1111/lam.12876.
- [22] Lutz JK, Lee J. Prevalence and antimicrobial-resistance of Pseudomonas aeruginosa in swimming pools and hot tubs. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2011;8:554–64. doi:10.3390/ijerph8020554.
- [23] Moore JE, Heaney N, Millar BC, Crowe M, Elborn JS. Incidence of Pseudomonas aeruginosa in recreational and hydrotherapy pools. Commun Dis Public Health 2002;5:23–6.
- [24] Hlavsa MC, Gerth TR, Collier SA, Dunbar EL, Rao G, Epperson G, et al. Immediate closures and violations identified during routine inspections of public aquatic facilities—network for aquatic facility inspection surveillance, five states. MMWR Surveill Summ. 2013-2016;65:1–26. doi:10.15585/mmwr. ss6505a1.
- [25] Lumb R, Stapledon R, Scroop A, Bond P, Cunliffe D, Goodwin A, et al. Investigation of spa pools associated with lung disorders caused by Mycobacterium avium complex in immunocompetent adults. Appl Environ Microbiol 2004;70:4906–10. doi:10.1128/AEM.70.8.4906-4910.2004.
- [26] Zietz BP, Dunkelberg H, Ebert J, Narbe M. Isolation and characterization of Legionella spp. and Pseudomonas spp. from greenhouse misting systems. J Appl Microbiol 2006;100:1239–50. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2672.2006.02875.x.
- [27] Buttery JP, Alabaster SJ, Heine RG, Scott SM, Crutchfield RA, Bigham A, et al. Multiresistant Pseudomonas aeruginosa outbreak in a pediatric oncology ward related to bath toys. Pediatr Infect Dis J 1998;17:509–13. doi:10.1097/0006454-199806000-00015.
- [28] Trust TJ, Bartlett KH. Occurrence of potential pathogens in water containing ornamental fishes. Appl Microbiol 1974;28:35–40.
- [29] Walczak N, Puk K, Guz L. Bacterial flora associated with diseased freshwater ornamental fish. J Vet Res 2017;61:445–9 Published 2017 Dec 27. doi:10.1515/ jvetres-2017-0070.
- [30] Trust TJ, Bartlett KH. Isolation of Pseudomonas aeruginosa and other bacterial species from ornamental aquarium plants. Appl Environ Microbiol 1976;31:992–4.
- [31] Cremonesini D, Thomson A. Lung colonization with Aeromonas hydrophila in cystic fibrosis believed to have come from a tropical fish tank. J R Soc Med 2008;101(Suppl 1):S44–SS5. doi:10.1258/jrsm.2008.s18010.
- [32] Furukawa M, McCaughan J, Stirling J, Millar BC, Bell J, Goldsmith CE, et al. Muddy puddles - the microbiology of puddles located outside tertiary university teaching hospitals. Lett Appl Microbiol 2018;66:284–92. doi:10.1111/lam. 12856.
- [33] Schets FM, van den Berg HHJL, Lynch G, de Rijk S, de Roda Husman AM, Schijven JF. Evaluation of water quality guidelines for public swimming ponds. Environ Int 2020;137:105516. doi:10.1016/j.envint.2020.105516.
- [34] Psoter KJ, De Roos AJ, Wakefield J, Mayer J, Rosenfeld M. Season is associated with Pseudomonas aeruginosa acquisition in young children with cystic fibrosis. Clin Microbiol Infect 2013;19:E483–E489. doi:10.1111/1469-0691.12272.
- [35] Khan NH, Ishii Y, Kimata-Kino N, Esaki H, Nishino T, Nishimura M, et al. Isolation of Pseudomonas aeruginosa from open ocean and comparison with freshwater, clinical, and animal isolates. Microb Ecol 2007;53:173–86. doi:10.1007/s00248-006-9059-3.
- [36] van Asperen IA, de Rover CM, Schijven JF, Oetomo SB, Schellekens JF, van Leeuwen NJ, et al. Risk of otitis externa after swimming in recreational fresh water lakes containing Pseudomonas aeruginosa. BMJ 1995;311:1407–10. doi:10.1136/bmj.311.7017.1407.
- [37] Casanovas-Massana A, Blanch AR. Characterization of microbial populations associated with natural swimming pools. Int J Hyg Environ Health 2013;216:132– 7. doi:10.1016/j.ijheh.2012.04.002.
- [38] Leoni E, Legnani PP, Bucci Sabattini MA, Righi F. Prevalence of Legionella spp. in swimming pool environment. Water Res 2001;35:3749–53. doi:10.1016/ s0043-1354(01)00075-6.
- [39] Barben J, Hafen G, Schmid JSwiss Paediatric Respiratory Research Group. Pseudomonas aeruginosa in public swimming pools and bathroom water of patients with cystic fibrosis. J Cyst Fibros 2005;4:227–31. doi:10.1016/j.jcf.2005.06.003.
- [40] Rice SA, van den Akker B, Pomati F, Roser D. A risk assessment of Pseudomonas aeruginosa in swimming pools: a review. J Water Health 2012;10:181–96. doi:10.2166/wh.2012.020.
- [41] Schets FM, van den Berg HH, Baan R, Lynch G, de Roda Husman AM. Pseudomonas aeruginosa on vinyl-canvas inflatables and foam teaching aids in swimming pools. J Water Health 2014;12:772–81. doi:10.2166/wh.2014.066.
- [42] Centers for disease control and prevention. Healthy swimming inflatable & plastic kiddie pools. https://www.cdc.gov/healthywater/swimming/swimmers/inflatable-plastic-pools.html. (accessed 23.6.20).
- [43] Centers for disease control and prevention. Healthy swimming water play areas & interactive fountains. https://www.cdc.gov/healthywater/swimming/swimmers/water-play-areas-interactive-fountains.html. (accessed 23.6.20).

- [44] Ranganathan SC, Skoric B, Ramsay KA, Carzino R, Gibson AM, Hart E, et al. Australian respiratory early surveillance team for cystic fibrosis (AREST-CF) *. Geographical differences in first acquisition of Pseudomonas aeruginosa in cystic fibrosis. Ann Am Thorac Soc 2013;10:108–14. doi:10.1513/AnnalsATS. 201209-077OC.
- [45] Mohammed RL, Echeverry A, Stinson CM, Green M, Bonilla TD, Hartz A, et al. Survival trends of Staphylococcus aureus, Pseudomonas aeruginosa, and Clostridium perfringens in a sandy South Florida beach. Mar Pollut Bull 2012;64:1201–9. doi:10.1016/j.marpolbul.2012.03.010.
- [46] Pinto KC, Hachich EM, Sato MI, Di Bari M, Coelho MC, Matté MH, et al. Microbiological quality assessment of sand and water from three selected beaches of South Coast, São Paulo State, Brazil. Water Sci Technol 2012;66:2475–82. doi:10.2166/wst.2012.494.
- [47] Suárez P, Gutiérrez AV, Salazar V, Puche ML, Serrano Y, Martínez S, et al. Virulence properties and antimicrobial resistance of Pseudomonas aeruginosa isolated from cave waters at Roraima Tepui, Guayana Highlands. Lett Appl Microbiol 2020;70:372–9. doi:10.1111/lam.1328332048742.
- [48] Moore JE, McCaughan J, Stirling J, Bell J, Millar BC. Snow angels the microbiology of freshly fallen snow: implications for immunocompromised patients. J Water Health 2018;16:1029–32. doi:10.2166/wh.2018.156.
- [49] Purdy-Gibson ME, France M, Hundley TC, Eid N, Remold SK. Pseudomonas aeruginosa in CF and non-CF homes is found predominantly in drains. J Cyst Fibros 2015;14:341–6. doi:10.1016/j.jcf.2014.10.008.
- [50] Regnath T, Kreutzberger M, Illing S, Oehme R, Liesenfeld O. Prevalence of Pseudomonas aeruginosa in households of patients with cystic fibrosis. Int J Hyg Environ Health 2004;207(6):585–8. doi:10.1078/1438-4639-00331.
- [51] Department of Health. Water systems Health Technical Memorandum 04-01: addendum Pseudomonas aeruginosa – advice for augmented care units. 2013. https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/ uploads/attachment_data/file/140105/Health_Technical_Memorandum_04-01_ Addendum.pdf. (accessed 23.6.20)
- [52] Schelstraete P, Van Daele S, De Boeck K, Proesmans M, Lebecque P, Leclercq-Foucart J, et al. Pseudomonas aeruginosa in the home environment of newly infected cystic fibrosis patients. Eur Respir J 2008;31:822–9. doi:10.1183/09031936.00088907.

- [53] Zupančič J, Turk M, Črnigoj M, Ambrožič Avguštin J, Gunde-Cimerman N. The dishwasher rubber seal acts as a reservoir of bacteria in the home environment. BMC Microbiol 2019;19:300 Published 2019 Dec 19. doi:10.1186/s12866-019-1674-5.
- [54] Döring G, Bareth H, Gairing A, Wolz C, Botzenhart K. Genotyping of Pseudomonas aeruginosa sputum and stool isolates from cystic fibrosis patients: evidence for intestinal colonization and spreading into toilets. Epidemiol Infect 1989;103:555–64. doi:10.1017/s0950268800030958.
- [55] Gould D, Chudleigh J, Ben Salem R. The evidence base and infection risks from flowers in the clinical setting. Brit J Infect Control 2005;6:18–20.
 [56] Ji XY, Fei CN, Zhang Y, Liu J, Liu H, Song J. Three key factors influencing the
- [56] Ji XY, Fei CN, Zhang Y, Liu J, Liu H, Song J. Three key factors influencing the bacterial contamination of dental unit waterlines: a 6-year survey from 2012 to. Int Dent J 2017-2019;69:192-9. doi:10.1111/idj.12456.
- [57] Ditommaso S, Giacomuzzi M, Ricciardi E, Memoli G, Zotti CM. Colonization by Pseudomonas aeruginosa of dental unit waterlines and its relationship with other bacteria: suggestions for microbiological monitoring. J Water Health 2019;17:532–9. doi:10.2166/wh.2019.240.
- [58] Barben J, Schmid J. Dental units as infection sources of Pseudomonas aeruginosa. Eur Respir J 2008;32:1122–3. doi:10.1183/09031936.00072808.
- [59] Al-Hiyasat AS, Ma'ayeh SY, Hindiyeh MY, Khader YS. The presence of Pseudomonas aeruginosa in the dental unit waterline systems of teaching clinics. Int J Dent Hyg 2007;5:36–44. doi:10.1111/j.1601-5037.2007.00221.x.
- [60] Millar BC, Maguire M, Moore RE, Murphy A, McCaughan J, Stirling J, et al. Steam disinfection of toothbrushes from patients with cystic fibrosis: Evidence-based recommendations. Pediatr Pulmonol 2020 Jul 30 Epub ahead of print. doi:10.1002/ppul.24994.
- [61] Lin W, Ye C, Guo L, Hu D, Yu X. Analysis of microbial contamination of house-hold water purifiers. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 2020;104:4533–45. doi:10.1007/s00253-020-10510-5.